
28 February 2019

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on

Monday, 4 March 2019
beginning at

7:00 pm
in the

Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF

TO: Councillor Cynthia Garton (Chair)
Councillor Janice Asman (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Margaret Allingham Councillor Carol Boulton
Councillor Ian Corben Councillor Richard Gomer
Councillor Keith House Councillor Lucy Jurd
Councillor Rupert Kyrle Councillor Derek Pretty
Councillor Bruce Tennent Councillor Adrian Trace

Staff Contacts: Catherine Collins, Case Management Officer Tel: 023 8068 8326; 
Email: Catherine.collins@eastleigh.gov.uk

Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437; Email: 
julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Performance and Governance Manager

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 
other languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and 
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Apologies    

2. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 10) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2019. 

3. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

4. HEWEB Youth Grants 2018/2019    (Pages 11 - 20)

5. Public Participation    

6. Chair's Report    

7. Financial Management    (Pages 21 - 28)

8. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

9. Planning Application - WIldern Leisure Centre, Wildern School, Wildern Lane, 
Hedge End, SO30 4EJ    (Pages 29 - 38) 

Extension to existing swimming pool building and replacement roof (Ref: 
/19/84807). 

10. Planning application - Thorneydown Farm, Moorhill Road, West End, SO30 3AY    
(Pages 39 - 60) 

Construction of golf course extension and its dual use for temporary, occasional 
car parking for major events (more than 15,000 capacity) for the Ageas Bowl 
between April and October for up to 1300 cars on approximately 12 occasions per 
annum. Associated landscaping, drainage, ecological enhancement, tree works 
and earthworks (Ref: F/18/83908). 

11. Planning Appeals     

The Legal Services Manager to report:-

(a) that the following appeals have been dismissed:-

Appeal under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against the 
Council’s refusal to grant outline planning permission for development of existing 
agricultural site to light industrial uses (use classes B1(b) and B1 (c)), general 
industrial use (B2) with access from Allington Lane (all other matters reserved) 
(amended description). (Ref: APP/W1715/W/18/3211431).

This was a delegated decision.



 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 10 June 2019 at 7:00 pm

in the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 
Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Monday, 28 January 2019  (7:00 pm – 10:37 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Garton (Chair); Councillors Asman, Allingham, Corben, Gomer, 
House, Jurd, Kyrle, Pretty, Tennent and Trace

Also in attendance: Councillors  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Boulton

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

52. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation on this occasion.

53. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 December 2018 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

54. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Keith House declared a Non Pecuniary Interest in agenda item 
11, Retrospective Planning Application - Land at Peewit Hill, Southampton 
SO31 8BL, because his partner lives 200 metres from the application site, 
but not in sight of it. 

55. CHAIR'S REPORT

Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership

The Chair was pleased to report that she had participated in the Eastleigh 
Community Safety Partnership’s sixth annual forum. Over 50 people 
attended with representatives from community groups, housing 
associations, the Police, One Community and the Borough, Town and 
Parish Councils. The theme was tackling anti-social behaviour with the 
emphasis on working with local partners. A number of schemes were also 
showcased including the Friday Night Football project which was doing 
well at Botley. 

Park and Stride

1

Agenda Item 2



2

The Chair had attended the official launch of the Park and Stride scheme, 
which operated from the former Budgens’ car park in Hedge End. This site 
was used by children and parents from Shamblehurst School and also 
Wildern School. The opening times of the car park would remain under 
review.
  
Dowd’s Farm

The new play equipment including zip wires was being well used by 
youngsters and had been positively received. The Committee had 
approved funding of £60,000 towards this project which was delivered in 
partnership with Hedge End Town Council. 

Sunday’s Hill Bypass

The bypass at Sunday’s Hill in Hedge End had been opened by the Mayor, 
Councillor Tennent. The road linked up Heath House Lane/King’s Copse 
Avenue and Junction 8 of the M27. This major investment in the local area 
was part of the planning agreement for Boorley Park. The aim was to 
improve traffic flows around Hedge End and Botley.

Itchen Valley Country Park

The entrance signage at the Country Park had been completed. The 
wooden structure was funded by the Committee and had been created by 
local artist, Richard Austin who was also responsible for the wood carving 
in Shafford Meadows.

Cheryll Kemsley

The Chair took the opportunity to thank Cheryll Kemsley, the Borough 
Council’s Democratic Services Officer for her support to the Committee. 
Cheryll had prepared agendas, taken minutes and published the 
Committee’s reports during the last four years. On behalf of the 
Committee, she wished Cheryll a very happy and healthy retirement.

56. LOCAL AREA MANAGER'S REPORT

Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) Youth Grants

The Committee had allocated £4,000 towards the annual HEWEB Youth 
Grants. Applications had now been considered by the Youth Council in 
conjunction with the HEWEB Youth Leader. The recommendations would 
be brought to the next Local Area Committee meeting in March for 
consideration.

The Pavilions - Public Art

2



3

The Pavilions (Moorgreen) steering group had met with the successful 
artist, Tim Ward of Circling the Square, to finalise the designs for “The 
Eternal Knot” which was based on a theme of community spirit whilst the 
remainder of the sculpture would depict the history of the site. Tim had 
also met with pupils from St. James’s School to gather their ideas along 
with those of the local history society.

Residents’/Councillors’ requests

New litter bins were now in place at Locke Road and Cranbourne Park. 
Posts had been installed at Downland Close, Botley to prevent illegal 
access to an area of open space.

Wildern Nature Reserve

The Committee had granted Hedge End Town Council permission to apply 
to Natural England to formally accept Wildern Nature Park and the 
surrounding area as a Local Nature Reserve. Confirmation has now been 
received from the Town Council that this status has been achieved. 

Cricket World Cup 

The Ageas Bowl would stage five Cricket World Cup matches in June. The 
Cricket World Cup trophy tour would be held at all the host venues with a 
Hampshire Cricket members’ event on 25 February. Places Leisure 
Eastleigh would also host an event on the same day with ten local schools 
and 300 children registered to – date. The Ageas Bowl would also be 
hosting a one day international between England and Pakistan on 11 May.

Botley Neighbourhood Plan

Borough Council officers and representatives of the Neighbourhood Plan 
Committee had met to work together on this important document for 
Botley. 
 
Hilldene Community Centre

A feasibility study had ruled out using the hardstanding at the front of the 
Hilldene building for parking. As a result, it has been agreed that the 
current car park would be upgraded with an improved surface and new 
lining using the allocated funding from the Committee. 

57. HEWEB LOCAL AREA ACTION PLAN 2019/20

The Committee considered a report by the Local Area Manager.

RESOLVED –

3



4

That the Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Action Plan 
2019/20 be approved for adoption and publication.

58. HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
COMMUNITY GRANTS REPORT

The Committee considered a report by the Assistant Local Area Manager.

RESOLVED –

That the Hedge End, West End and Botley Community Grants Report 
be approved.

59. IVY LANE AND ROSEMOUNT COURT PARKING RESTRICTIONS

The Committee considered a Report by the Senior Engineering Specialist 
relating to the proposed parking restrictions within the bell mouths of Ivy 
Lane and Rosemount Court. 

RESOLVED – 

That the new waiting restrictions within Ivy Lane and Rosemount 
Court be approved.

60. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES

Development Management staff gave a short presentation on guidelines 
that had to be taken into account when determining planning applications; 
in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account.  
This was set against the broader policy framework.

61. RETROSPECTIVE PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND AT PEEWIT HILL, 
SOUTHAMPTON SO31 8BL

The Committee considered a report by the Development Management 
Specialist relating to the retention of access gates (RETROSPECTIVE) on 
land at Peewit Hill. (Ref: F/18/84421).

Updates: 

• No updates.

Cllr House moved to refuse planning permission contrary to the officer’s 
recommendation, citing concerns regarding the visual obtrusion and 
urbanising impact of the development in this locality. 

RESOLVED – 

REFUSED PLANNING PERMISSION (recommendation overturned). 

4



5

Reason: The gates, due to their size, design and location, are visually 
obtrusive and create an urbanising feature in the Countryside, to the 
detriment of the character and appearance of the locality.  As such the 
Development is contrary to Saved Policies 1.CO and 59.BE of the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and Emerging Policy 
DM1.  

(NOTES: a) Cllr House declared a personal non pecuniary interest in this 
application as his partner lives 200 meters from the application site, but 
not within view of the site. He remained in the room and voted on the 
application.)

62. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND WEST OF WOODHOUSE LANE, 
HEDGE END SO30 2EZ

The Committee considered a report by the Development Management 
Senior Specialist concerning a hybrid planning application for Land West 
of Woodhouse Lane, Hedge End, SO30 2EZ. (Ref: O/18/83634).

Updates:

 Secretary of State Referral:
- Referral to the Secretary of State prior to issuing a planning 

decision is not required.
- The Secretary of State shall be notified of any decision made 

upon the issuing of that decision, as set out in the 
Regulations.

 Consultation Responses:
- Outstanding Consultation Responses Received (written 

summary provided to Councillors; in brief, no objections, 
subject to conditions/S106 obligations):
 Urban Design and Landscape;
 HCC Children’s Services;
 HCC Minerals and Waste;
 HCC Local Lead Flood Authority;
 Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks;
 Natural England;
 Highways England;
 British Horse Society;
 HCC Countryside Access.

- Responses Still Awaited:
 Ecology;
 Natural England (HRA Appropriate Assessment);
 Scotia Gas Networks;
 Sports England.

 Community Use:

5



6

- Progress has been made in relation to the Community Use 
Agreement (CUA) Clause within the S106:
 Completion of CUA;
 Will allow community use of the indoor and outdoor 

sports facilities and assembly hall for the duration of 
the time the buildings are used for educational 
purposes;

 To be in place before the school is occupied for 
educational purposes (provided that the facilities are 
safely accessible, open and available).

- Letter of Comfort from HCC in relation lease negotiations to 
enable third party access (with prior approval) to deliver 
future aspirations;

- S106 discussions regarding other matters ongoing.

 Conditions:
- New Conditions:

 Condition added to confirm hours of construction 
works for school development;

 Condition added to secure details of SINC fencing;
 Condition added to secure incidental recovery of 

minerals on site, if appropriate;
 Condition added to require monitoring of nutrient 

volumes in the water environment;
 Condition added to required approval of residential 

travel plan;

- Amended Conditions:
 Condition 2: Plan numbers corrected;
 Condition 3: Document reference added;
 Conditions 5 and 6: Amended to separate bypass and 

school development phases;
 Conditions 7 and 8: Wording added to clarify this 

relates to the school development and access works;
 Condition 9: Amended to require submission within 6 

months of occupation;
 Condition 11: Wording added to clarify this is 

applicable to the school;
 Condition 16: Plan numbers corrected;
 Condition 17: ‘And accord with’ added;
 Condition 18: Duplication with conditions 16 and 17, 

therefore deleted;
 Condition 20c: Amended to take account of the 

operational impact on the M27 Junction 7; 
 Conditions 21-29, 33, 41 and 45: Wording added to 

clarify this is applicable to the residential development 
phases;

 Condition 26k and o: Reference to Condition 3 
corrected; Amended to require the detailed design to 

6



7

take account of the secondary school travel 
arrangements;

 Condition 28: Amended to require the detailed design 
to take account of the secondary school travel 
arrangements;

 Conditions 30, 31 and 40: To be phased;
 Conditions 34 and 38: Submission of information to be 

phased;
 Condition 42: Corrected to refer to public water 

apparatus;
 Condition 46: Duplicate with condition 29, therefore 

deleted.

RESOLVED – 

As amended: Delegate authority to Housing & Development Lead 
Specialist in consultation with Chair, Vice Chair, Leader of the Council and 
Ward Members, to GRANT PERMISSION subject to:

1. No material planning objections from outstanding consultees; 

2. Comments from Natural England in relation to the HRA Appropriate 
Assessment; 

3. Securing community use of indoor and outdoor sports facilities and 
assembly hall at Deer Park School;

4. Provisions to enable the Council to deliver improved sports facilities 
for the community; and

5. Satisfactory completion of the S106 legal agreement to secure all 
necessary obligations including a guarantee of permanent community 
use.

(NOTES: a) Five members of the public spoke in objection to this 
application citing a number of issues, including the following: inadequate 
parking for school drop offs, lack of primary school places, lack of 
provision for cycle parking, amount of houses in development, population 
increase in area and concern for roads becoming more congested; b) 
Hampshire County Council and Cllr Mercer spoke in support of the 
application.)

63. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND NORTH AND EAST OF 
WINCHESTER STREET, BOTLEY SO30 2AA

The Committee considered a report by the Development Management 
Senior Specialist concerning a planning application for Land North and 
East of Winchester Street, Botley, SO30 2AA. (Ref: O/18/83698).

 Updates:

7



8

 Secretary of State Referral:
- Referral to the Secretary of State prior to issuing a planning 

decision is not required.
- The Secretary of State shall be notified of any decision made 

upon the issuing of that decision, as set out in the 
Regulations.

 Consultation Responses:
- Outstanding Consultation Responses Received (Written 

summary provided to Councillors; in brief, with the exception 
of SSE, no objections, subject to conditions/S106 
obligations.):
 HCC Children’s Services;
 Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks;
 Highways England;
 Hampshire Highways.

- Responses Still Awaited:
 HCC Children’s Services;
 Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks;
 Highways England;
 Hampshire Highways.

 Conditions:
- New Conditions:

 Condition added to require monitoring of nutrient 
volumes in the water environment;

 Condition added to required approval of residential 
travel plan;

- Amended Conditions:
 Condition 2: Plan numbers corrected and ‘for at least 

the first phase of development’ added;
 Condition 3: ‘And accords with’ added;
 Condition 4: Duplication with Condition 2 and 3, 

therefore deleted;
 Conditions 7, 8, 12, 13, 18, 19, 27: To be phased;
 Condition 9c: Amended to take account of the 

operational impact on the M27 Junction 7; 
 Condition 21: Reference to plan number 

251898_CH_15 deleted; amended to prevent 
occupation of units utilising the specific access.

Cllr Kyrle requested further consideration be given to providing an access 
from the site directly onto Winchester Street. 

RESOLVED – 

(As amended) PERMIT, subject to no material planning objections from 
outstanding consultees; comments from Natural England in relation to the 

8



9

HRA Appropriate Assessment; and completion of the S106 legal 
agreement, delegated back to Chair, Vice Chair and Ward Members for 
final approval.

(NOTES: a) Two members of the public spoke in objection to this 
application citing a number of issues, including the following: inadequate 
parkin, too many houses being built in the local area, utilities currently at 
maximum capacity, road infrastructure is not appropriate, no semi-natural 
zones planned in, loss of countryside and not enough provision giving to 
walking and cycling measures; b) Cllr Mercer spoke in support of the 
application.)

64. PLANNING APPEALS

The Legal Services Manager reported:

(a) that the following appeal has been allowed:-

Appeal against the Council’s decision to refuse planning permission 
for a mobile home, link unit and art studio at 146 Winchester Road, 
Botley. (Ref: F/18/82327).

This was a delegated decision.

(b) that the following appeals have been dismissed:-
Appeal against the Council’s enforcement notice for a breach of 
planning control as alleged in the notice is of the change of use of 
the land (excluding the agricultural building) from use as agricultural 
to storage and distribution at land to the rear of Seddul Bahr, 
Allington Lane, Eastleigh SO30 3HP. 
(Ref: APP/W1715/C/18/31930).

This was a delegated decision.

Appeal against the Council’s decision to refuse planning permission 
for a single storey side extension including anew front porch 
attached to the side extension at 25 Rose Close, Hedge End, SO30 
2GR.
(Ref: H/18/83321).

This was a delegated decision.

RESOLVED -

That the report be noted.

M6053

9



10

10



Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee 

Monday, 4 March 2019 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY YOUTH GRANTS 2018-19

Report of the Assistant Local Area Manager in partnership with the 
Hedge End, West End and Botley Youth Council

Recommendations

It is recommended that  this committee:

(1) Endorses the recommendations of the Hedge End, West End and Botley
(HEWEB) Youth Council for HEWEB youth grants as shown in Appendix A for   
2018/19; and

(2) Allocates £4,000 towards local youth grants to be awarded in 2019/20.

Summary

This report outlines the youth grants process including the involvement of the Hedge 
End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) Youth Council in the decision making process. 
Councillors are invited to endorse the recommendations of this year’s Youth Grants 
Panel and to extend their thanks to these volunteers. £4,000 from the Committee’s 
Youth Initiatives budget has been allocated towards youth grants in past years and 
should be reserved again so that the Youth Grants Panel, with the support of Hedge End 
Town Council’s youth leader, can be reconvened in 2020.

Statutory Powers

Section.1 Localism Act 2011 and Children’s Act 2004.

Strategic Implications 
1. The Local First strategic project seeks to identify local needs and to 

allocated resources to meet these needs. The devolution of this task to 
the most local level is also a strategic aspiration. The allocation of grants 
to valued and effective local organisations is the aim of this report based 
on the local Youth Council’s recommendations. In particular, the grants 

11

Agenda Item 4



Eastleigh Borough Council

will enable Healthier Lifestyles and Wellbeing for local young people 
through the provision of targeted activities and services.

Introduction
2. The HEWEB Youth Council is supported by the HEWEB’s and Hedge End Town 

Council’s youth leader. One of their roles is to consider the Hedge End, West 
End and Botley annual youth grant applications with the support of the youth 
team.

Grants Process 2018/19
3. Volunteers from the HEWEB Youth Council spent their free time preparing 

criteria, assessing grant application forms and prioritising awards so that their 
grant recommendations could be brought to this Committee for endorsement.

4. The recommendations of the Youth Grants Panel are shown in Appendix A.
Members are invited to endorse their recommendations. The grants will be 
presented at the HEWEB Youth Partnership’s Annual General Meeting on 
Wednesday 20 March 2019.

Financial Implications
5. Provision has been made in this Committee’s revenue budget to meet the cost of 

the grants shown in Appendix A.

6. It is also recommended that £4,000 is allocated in the 2019/20 revenue 
budget for youth grants.

Risk Assessment
7. The HEWEB Youth Council has introduced a robust assessment and monitoring 

process to ensure all grants are properly utilised in accordance with criteria and 
conditions.

 Equality and Diversity Implications  
8. The HEWEB Youth Council has made specific efforts to ensure that equality and 

diversity implications were taken into account throughout its deliberations. Grant 
decisions have been made taking into account the key guidance of ‘Every Child 
Matters’ and the Children’s’ Act 2004.

9. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision relates 
to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or fostering 
good relations between different people in the following ways: increasing the 
capacity of voluntary and community organisations to provide services and 
opportunities for children and young people, including young carers, people 
with learning disabilities and older people.  The decision will help foster good 

12



Eastleigh Borough Council

relations between different groups by providing opportunities for all sections of 
the community, and specific opportunities for young and older generations to 
take part in activities together. A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not 
been carried out, because while there are some equalities impacts, it is not 
proportionate to carry out a full EIA.

Conclusion
10. Delegation of real decisions to our young people continues to be a successful 

and welcome initiative. The recommendations contained within this report assist 
with corporate priorities and the allocation of youth grants is part of the Hedge 
End, West End and Botley Youth Partnership’s development plan.

SIOBHAN STRAND  DONNA LOVE
ASSISTANT LOCAL AREA MANAGER HEDGE END TOWN COUNCIL AND HEWEB’S YOUTH LEADER

Date: 31 January 2019
Contact Officer: Siobhan Strand 
Tel No: 02380 688428
e-mail: siobhan.strand@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information: None.

13



This page is intentionally left blank



Applicant Amount 
Requested  

Purpose Recommendation Comments 

1. One Community 
 

£500 Towards staffing and resources HEWEB Young Carers Grp £500 
FULL AWARD 

SEE NOTES 

2. Tadic 
 

£500 Funding towards Counsellor expenses (1 x 45 min drop in for 
crisis apps x 3 15 min slots) 

£100 
PARTIAL AWARD 

 

3. Dance A Cality 
 

£500 Contribution towards a tumble track (Target £1,000) £250 
PARTIAL AWARD 

 

4. The Dart Centre 
 

£472 Trainee costs for a work exp placement for two weeks (10 days) 0 
NO AWARD 

 

5. Wildern Leisure Centre 
 

£470 SEN 1-2 swimming support assistant x 40 wks £470 
FULL AWARD 

 

6. The Dart Centre – YTTT Grp 
 

£500 End of year performance- funding towards production costs and 
performing rights fees. 

0 
NO AWARD 

 

7. Itchen Valley Rangers 
 

£95 Unit flag for remembrance day  and other parades £95 
FULL AWARD 

 

8. Wildern Young Carers 
Breakfast Club 
 

£100 Breakfast club refreshments for Young Carers £100 
FULL AWARD 

 

9. 31st Itchen North Sea Scouts 
 

£500 Funding towards a storage container located at Norman 
Rodaway Pavillion to store boating equipment. (£3,400) 

£300 
PARTIAL AWARD 

 

10. The Community Hub: FNP 
 

£500 Funding towards weekend residential visit for FNP young 
people with additional needs (Trip total: £3000) 

£500 
FULL AWARD 

 

11. KCC Youth Group, HE 
 

£440 Funding towards offering a subsidised summer camp place to 
two young people. (£220 PP) 

0 
NO AWARD 

 

12. HE RAF Cadets 
 

£410.70 Funding for arts and crafts materials for cadets INC Spitfire 
modelling kits, craft knives and cutting mats. 

£375 
PARTIAL AWARD 

 

13. Freegrounds Junior School 
 

£500 Eco Grp- Garden tools, bulbs, seeds £350 
PARTIAL AWARD 

 

14. Hunter Explorer Scouts 
 

£400 Coleman 15 x 15 Event Shelter with side panels £240 
PARTIAL AWARD 

 

15. Chimera Explorer Scouts 
 

£249.99 Coleman 15 x 15 Event Shelter £240 
PARTIAL AWARD 

 

16. 10th Itchen North Scout £500 Troop Tent/ Disablity Vango specialised tent £280  

15



Group 
 

PARTIAL AWARD 

17. West End Youth Club 
 

£500 Summer weekend residential to PGL Dorset £200 
PARTIAL AWARD 

 
 
 

 
 
TOTAL: 
 

   
 
£4,000.00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HEWEB YOUTH COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

Applicant Amount 
Requested 

HEWEB YC COMMENTS Recommendation 

16



              1.One Community 
 

£500 YC FELT THAT THIS WAS A VALUABLE SERVICE FOR YOUNG CARERS WITHIN 
HEWEB (NOT JUST WILDERN STUDENTS) AND MAY NOT BE ABLE TO CONTINUE 
WITHOUT FUNDING SUPPORT FOR AN ADDITIONAL STAFF MEMBER. 

£500 
 
 

2. Tadic 
 

£500 YC FELT THAT YPWS COULD USE SUPPORT STAFF RATHER THAN FUND A 
PROFESSIONAL COUNSELLOR AS THESE WERE 15 MIN APPS AND ONLY 3 YP 
COULD BE SEEN IN THE 45 MIN ALLOCATED 15 MIN CRISIS SLOTS. PARTIAL 
AWARD. 

£100 
 
 

3. Dance A Cality 
       

£500 YC WERE PLEASED TO HEAR THAT DANCE A CALITY HAVE BEEN FUND RAISING 
TOWARDS THEIR PROPOSED PORTABLE TUMBLE TRACK SO OFFERED A PARTIAL 
AWARD TO HELP REACH THEIR £1,000 TARGET. HALF AWARD 

£250 
 
 

4. The Dart Centre 
 

£472 YC DID NOT FEEL APPROPRIATE TO FUND WAGES OF A 16-19 YEAR OLD FOR 
THEIR 10 DAYS OF WORK EXPERIENCE. WHILST HONORABLE TO PAY A TRAINEE 
YC FELT A YOUTH VOLUNTEER WOULD GAIN AS MUCH EXPERIENCE. NO AWARD. 

0 
 
 

5. Wildern Leisure Centre 
 

 

£470 YC ASKED FOR MORE INFO REGARDING THIS APPLICATION. THEY WERE 
INFORMED THAT UP TO SIX CHILDREN PER TERM WITH SEN WOULD BENEFIT 
FROM ONE TO ONE SWIM SUPPORT SO FELT THIS A WORTHY INITIATIVE WHICH 
COULD SAVE LIVES. FULL AWARD 

£470 

6. The Dart Centre – YTTT 
Grp 

 

£500 YC DID NOT FEEL APPROPRIATE TO MAKE AN AWARD FOR THE FOLLOWING 
REASONS. GRANT WAS TO FUND A PERFORMING ARTS LICENSE. ALSO AS JUST A 
ONE OFF EVENT NO SUSTAINABILITY AND THE DART COULD POTENTIALLY 
PROFIT FROM THE EVENT VIA TICKET SALES. NO AWARD. 

0 

7. Itchen Valley Rangers 
 

£95 YC FELT THIS WAS A VERY WORTHY AWARD. THE UNIT FLAG CAN BE USED ON 
MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND MANY EVENTS INCLUDING HE REMEMBERANCE 
PARADE. FULL AWARD. 

£95 
 
 

8. Wildern Young Carers 
Breakfast Club 

 
 
9. 31st Itchen North Sea  
Scouts 
 

£100 
 
 
 
 
£500 
 
 

YC ACKNOWLEGED VALUE FOR MONEY. BREAKFAST ‘MOST IMPORTANT MEAL 
OF THE DAY’ VERY WORTHWHILE INITIATIVE FOR YOUNG CARERS AT 
WILDERN.HAPPY TO SUPPORT.  FULL AWARD. 
 
 
YC ACKNOWLEGED THE TARGET OF £4,000 FOR THE CONTAINER AND SECURITY 
FENCING TO STORE SCOUTS CAMPING/BOATING EQUIPMENT IN ONE LOCATION 
AT RODAWAY PAVILLION. SCOUTS FUND RAISING WILL ALSO HELP TO 
HOPEFULLY REACH THEIR TARGET. PARTIAL AWARD. 
 

£100 
 
 
 
 
£300 
 
 
 
 

17



10. The Community Hub: 
FNP 

 

£500 YC WERE INFOMED THAT THE FNP ANNUAL RESIDENTIAL IS RELIANT ON GRANT 
FUNDING AND CANNOT GO AHEAD WITHOUT. YC WERE ALSO INFORMED 
OTHER GRANT FUNDING SOUGHT TO REACH £3,000 REQUIRED FOR TRIP X 18 
FULL AWARD. (NB YOUTH COUNCIL VISITORS ONLY VOTED FOR THIS APPLIC) 

£500 
 
 

11. KCC Youth Group, HE 
 

£440 YC DID NOT FEEL THIS INITIATIVE WAS VALUE FOR MONEY AND WAS QUITE 
EXPENSIVE COMPARED TO OTHER RESIDENT IAL APPLICATIONS. (£220 PP) ALSO, 
THERE WERE JUST 2 YP TO BE OFFERED A SUBSIDISED PLACE AND YP DEBATED 
HOW THE YP WOULD BE SELECTED AND COULD IT BE A FAIR PROCESS.  
NO AWARD. 

0 
 
 

12. HE RAF Cadets 
 

£410.70 YC ACKNOWLEGED THIS WAS A NEW APPLICATION. THEY FELT IT WAS GREAT 
VALUE FOR MONEY AND THE CRAFT EQUIPMENT COULD BE USED MULTIPLE 
TIMES. SPITFIRE MODEL KITS/DOE SCHEME EDUACTIONAL RESOURCE. SLIGHTLY 
LESS AWARDED AS KNIFE KITS COULD BE SHARED. PARTIAL AWARD. 

£375 

13. Freegrounds Junior 
School 

 

£500 YC ACKNOWLEGED THIS WAS A NEW APPLICATION. YC LOVED THE IDEA OF THE 
ECO GARDEN. YC ALSO ACKNOWLEGED THE LONGEVITY OF THE PROJECT AS THE 
GARDEN GROWS AND DEVELOPS. AND ALSO THAT A RANGE OF PUPILS CAN 
BECOME INVOLVED AT VARIOUS STAGES AND THE GARDEN WILL HAVE A 
POSITIVE EFFECT FOR ALL INVOLVED.  PARTIAL AWARD.  

£350 

14. Hunter Explorer Scouts 
 
 
 
 

£400 YC RESEARCHED THE COLEMAN 15 X 15 EVENT SHELTER AND MANAGED TO 
FIND A CHEAPER VERSION FROM ‘WOW’ CAMPING LOCALLY. YC FELT THIS WAS 
GREAT VALUE FOR MONEY AND IF LOOKED AFTER COULD BE USED MULIPLE 
TIMES AND FOR MANY SCOUTING EVENTS. *FULL AWARD (*SOURCED AT £240) 

£240 
 
 

15. Chimera Explorer Scouts 
       

£249.99 YC RESEARCHED THE COLEMAN 15 X 15 EVENT SHELTER AND MANAGED TO 
FIND A CHEAPER VERSION FROM ‘WOW’ CAMPING LOCALLY. YC FELT THIS WAS 
GREAT VALUE FOR MONEY AND IF LOOKED AFTER COULD BE USED MULIPLE 
TIMES AND FOR MANY SCOUTING EVENTS. *FULL AWARD (*SOURCED AT £240) 

£240 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16. 10th Itchen North Scout 
Group 

 

£500/£280 THIS APPLICATION WAS FOR EITHER A TROOP TENT OR A TENT TO AID A SCOUT 
MEMBER WITH CEREBRAL PALSY. TO PROVIDE A DISBAILITY AND CHANGING 
TENT WHICH WOULD ALSO HOUSE TWO CARERS. YC FELT THIS WOULD ENABLE 
INCLUSIVE ACCESS FOR ALL AND AVAILABILITY TO CAMP FOR THIS YOUNG 

£280 
 
 

18



PERSON AND FUTURE DISABLED USERS. 
 FULL AWARD GRANTED FOR VANGO CHANGING TENT.  

18. West End Youth Club 
 

£500 YC ACKNOWLEGED APPLICATION FOR 12 YP FOR A SUMMER RESIDENTIAL 
WEEKEND AT PGL SITE, DEVON. AS FUNDS FOR TRAIN TRANSPORT ALSO 
SOUGHT YC WERE HAPPY TO GRANT FUNDING FOR RETURN RAIL COSTS X 12 
(WHICH WAS APPROX. £18 RETURN FOR A YP BASED ON DEPART FRI HEDGE 
END TRAIN STATION TO WEYMOUTH, RETURN SUN EVE) YC FELT THAT WEST 
END YOUTH CLUB MAY BE ABLE TO RAISE REMAINING FUNDS THROUGH THEIR 
CRICKET CAR PARKING INITIATIVE WITH AGEAS BOWL OR OTHER FUND RAISING. 
PARTIAL AWARD. 

£200 
 
 

 
TOTAL: 
 
 
 

   
£4000.00 

 

 

19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

4 March 2019

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Report of the Local Area Manager

Recommendations

It is recommended that this Committee approves:

(1) funding of £5,500 as a contribution towards the Young People’s Wellbeing 
Service;

(2) funding of £2,000 for Park Sport 2019;

(3) funding of up to £19,392 from this Committee’s reserves to match fund the 
Assistant Local Area Manager’s position for one year;

(4) funding of £4,200 for nine flower towers;

(5) the renewal of the service level agreement for Friday Night Football at Botley 
Recreation Ground for a further 24 months with funding of £2,130 per year;

(6) the allocation of developers’ contributions of £3,430.92 for the purchase of 
ten litter bins at Itchen Valley Country Park;

(7) the allocation of developers’ contributions of £29,893.97 to assist with the 
kitchen project at Boorley Park’s new community centre;

(8) the allocation of a developer’s contribution of £700 for an access gate onto 
Cutbush Lane Playing Fields;

(9) the allocation of the developer’s contribution of £20,526 as a contribution 
towards the kitchen project at the Hedge End Youth and Community 
Association (HEYCA) building; and

(10) the allocation of the developer’s contribution of £5,000 for the upgrade of the 
boardwalk behind Berrywood School.

Summary
The recommended funding will support projects which meet identified local needs. The 
projects will also contribute to the achievement of corporate priorities. Councillors are 
requested to approve this funding as recommended.

21

Agenda Item 7



Eastleigh Borough Council

Statutory Powers
Section1 Localism Act 2011 and Section 151 of the Local Government Act 

Strategic Implications

1. The projects will assist the Council in achieving its corporate aims. In 
particular, the work of the Young People’s Wellbeing Service will help to 
encourage healthier lifestyles and the Park Sport and Friday Night Football 
projects are also providing different opportunities to enhance young people’s 
health. The “Wellness Café” will also provide a facility whereby health, both 
mental and physical, can be enhanced. The new kitchen and resulting café at 
Boorley Park will have similar social objectives. Provision of an access gate at 
Cutbush Lane will also provide opportunities for visitors to spend time outside 
their homes enjoying this open space.

2. The provision of litter bins at Itchen Valley Country Park will help with the 
corporate aim of keeping the environment clean and the upgrade of the 
boardwalk behind Berrywood School will assist with both the healthy lifestyles’ 
aim and increasing the use of sustainable transport The flower towers will 
enhance the environments within the shopping centres.

3. All of these projects are based on local need and are therefore in accordance 
with the Local First project.

Young People’s Wellbeing Service 

4. The Young People’s Wellbeing Service (YPWS) incorporates the Teenage 
Drop-In Centre (TADIC) at Hedge End and Hamble and Eastleigh Youth 
Counselling. It provides a valued and quality service for local young people. 

5. The Young People’s Wellbeing Service is based at the Hedge End Medical 
Centre. Weekly sessions are held at the Centre and also additional provision 
is offered at Wildern School.

6. The stated objectives of the charity are to provide the following for young 
people:-

 A confidential and accessible service.

 An opportunity to discuss all aspects of daily living

 The knowledge to empower them to make informed choices regarding 
their own physical, emotional and sexual health.

7. This provision is operated by a dedicated team of health specialists including 
doctors, sexual health nurses and counsellors as well as support services 
provided by a voluntary administration team. The charity is governed by a 
Board of Trustees. 

22



Eastleigh Borough Council

8. A rolling 12 month service level agreement was established between 
Eastleigh Borough Council, Hedge End Town Council and YPWS which sets 
out the agreed service level in return for funding of £11,000. This funding is 
split equally between the two councils. 

9. As part of this service level agreement, both councils receive six monthly 
reports which detail the number of visits and the reasons for the client’s visit. 
Councillors have received the latest report which shows that there were 401 
visits between April – September 2018. The service is primarily used by 
females, aged 17-18.

10. The service level agreement also includes a requirement to provide data using 
the postcodes of clients. This data reveals that 62% of clients live in Hedge 
End and a further 10% live in West End and Botley respectively. The current 
service level agreement is due to end on 31 March 2019.

11. Hedge End Town Council has indicated that the draft budget for 2019/20 
contains funding for a further 12 months of £5,500 and it is recommended that 
this Committee continues to match fund with the Town Council for April 2019 
to March 2020 with a review of this agreement in 6 months, ie, in October 
2019.

Park Sport 

12. The Council’s Park Sport scheme is well established and provides activities 
for 8 -16 year olds in the Summer holidays. It is heavily reliant upon 
sponsorship and all of the five local area committees have provided funding in 
the past.

13. In 2018, the Town Council and Parish Councils provided their facilities free of 
charge. These facilities were Moorgreen Recreation Ground; the D.@art 
Centre; Woodhouse Lane tennis courts; Greta Park; Cutbush Lane Recreation 
Ground and Norman Rodaway Recreation Ground. 323 attendances were 
registered for 33 sessions. 25 free swimming sessions were also offered at 
Wildern Leisure Centre.

14. The Skate Jam session at Woodhouse Lane attracted approximately 100 
young people. This session was run by a professional company, Team 
Extreme and involved competitions for skateboarders, BMX cyclists, Inline 
skaters and scooters. The only other skate jam in the Borough happened at 
Project Freespace.

15. Friday Night Football continues to be extremely popular at Botley Recreation 
Ground with an average of 35 young people attending the five summer 
sessions.

16. It is recommended that this Committee continues to support this popular 
initiative by providing £2,000 towards the funding of activities within HEWEB.

23



Eastleigh Borough Council

Funding for the Assistant Local Area Manager’s position

17. Councillors will recall that the Assistant Local Area Manager’s position was 
created to assist with the backlog and scope of work in the HEWEB and 
Eastleigh (ELAC) local areas. The Assistant Local Area Manager’s time is split 
equally between the two local areas with the HEWEB Local Area Manager 
providing line management to ensure that the workload is co-ordinated.

18. The assistance and achievements of the Assistant Local Area Manager have 
been greatly appreciated by Councillors and the respective Local Area 
Managers. Consequently an extension of this secondment is proposed for 
another year as a minimum.

19.      This internal secondment was funded from the Council’s Transition Fund until 
July 2019. This Fund has now been spent and therefore any extension of the 
secondment must be funded by the two Committees currently and therefore a 
contribution from this Committee’s reserves of up to £19,392 is 
recommended. This represents 50% of the total cost of the post including on-
costs. The ELAC Local Area Manager will be making a similar 
recommendation for match funding to the Eastleigh Local Area Committee. 

Flower Towers

20. Historically this Committee has funded nine flower towers for use within the 
shopping centres in Hedge End, West End and Botley. Each centre is 
allocated three towers.

21. Following discussions with local Councillors, it was felt that this expenditure 
should continue to be allocated for this use because of the positive effect that 
the towers have in these areas which are at the heart of the community.

22. Consequently, funding from the Committee’s revenue budget of £4,200 is 
requested. 

Friday Night Football in Botley

23. The Service Level Agreement (SLA) for Friday Night Football is due to expire 
on 31 March 2019. This agreement is based on the provision of weekly 
football sessions for 10 -19 year olds at Botley Recreation Ground.

24. As part of the SLA, Botley provides the facility free of charge; the Borough 
Council’s Health and Wellbeing Specialist manages the project and this 
Committee allocates £2,000 per year to partially cover the football coaches’ 
costs and replacement equipment.

25. These sessions remain extremely popular with an average attendance of 50 
young people.

26. Committee members have expressed the view that the current cost of £1 per 
head must not be increased. However with costs increasing, there is now a 
funding gap of over £1,000 per year.

24



Eastleigh Borough Council

27. Friday Night Football was discussed at Botley Parish’s Full Council meeting 
on 8 January 2019. It was acknowledged that there may be a funding gap 
which the Parish Council might have to consider funding.

28. Following a meeting with the Local Area Manager, the Parish Clerk has 
agreed to seek funding of £1,000 from the Parish Council’s youth budget.

29. It is also proposed that the Parish Clerk, Health and Wellbeing Specialist and 
the Local Area Manager meet to complete a new service level agreement for 
April 2019 – March 2021.

30. Councillors are asked to approve funding of £2,130 for two years to support 
this project.

Litter Bins

31. The Country Parks Visitor Services Manager has reported that ten dog bins 
located at Itchen Valley Country Park are beyond their useful life. The 
proposal is to replace these with dual use bins and also to include an 
additional dual use bin towards the front of the park.

32. It is recommended that the following developers’ contribution is allocated:-

         OSO/09/65168 Mr Ian Stovold, Cayton, 10 The Drove, West End 
         Receipt Date:19/07/2013        £242.56    

OSF/12/71710 Paris Smith LLP, Land r/o Havana, Landor & Clovelly, 
Kanes Hill, Southampton. Receipt Date: 31/10/2013   £3,188.36

Boorley Park

33. Following discussions at the Boorley Green Working Group, it emerged that 
Botley Parish Council had identified a list of required fixtures and fittings for 
the community centre and sports pavilion at Boorley Park which totalled in 
excess of £100,000. 

34. The Section 106 agreement for Boorley Park only provides for the 
construction of these two buildings and as a result it was agreed that this 
Committee’s current developers’ contributions would be reviewed to 
determine whether funding could be identified to conform to the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) requirements.

35.  The following funding is therefore recommended for the kitchen project within 
the Boorley Park community centre:-

F/17/80382 Imperial Homes South, Braxells Farm, Winchester Road, 
Botley    £29,893.97

25



Eastleigh Borough Council

Access to Cutbush Lane Playing Fields

36. Last year, West End Parish Council received a request from a resident of 
Atlantic Park View for disabled access onto Cutbush Lane Playing Fields 
when the facility is not open. The resident’s husband is a wheelchair user and 
the playing fields provide a local flat area which they can safely visit whilst 
taking their dog for a walk. As an interim measure, the Parish Council has 
issued the residents with a key to the main gate.  

37. The costs to install an accessible gate would be approximately £700 plus staff 
costs.

38. The Parish Council has indicated that their grounds maintenance staff could 
install the gate if the £700 could be identified within this Committee’s 
developers’ contributions As a result, it is recommended that the following is 
allocated:-

OSF/12/71412 Mr S Taylor (HGS Developments Ltd) 1 Charmwen 
Crescent, West End Receipt Date: 28/11/2012        £700 PART

Hedge End Youth and Community Association (HEYCA)

39. This Committee has allocated funding towards a programme of renovation 
and refurbishment at the HEYCA building in Hedge End. Specifically this 
funding contributed to the upgrade of the roof and drainage system. These 
works have been completed and the building is now water tight. 

40. One of the next priority projects as identified by local councillors is to upgrade 
the kitchen for the benefit of all users. In particular, there is a proposal for a 
new community project, with the working title of, “wellness café”, which the 
Borough Council and Hedge End Town Council are keen to support.

41. The “wellness café” will provide opportunities for local residents to socialise 
with others. All ages will be welcomed and guest speakers on a range of 
subjects will be invited as the programme is developed.

42. Local councillors are well aware of residents who have become socially 
isolated due to different circumstances and this project aims to benefit these 
people in particular.

43. It is recommended that councillors approve the allocation of the following 
developer’s contribution:-

F/15/76447 Kingsgate, Home Farm, St John's Road, Hedge End.    
£20,526

Boardwalk, behind Berrywood School, Hedge End

44. The walking/cycling route leading from Locke Road to Billington Gardens is 
popular with local residents. It is also due to become the walk to school route 
for the new Deer Park School.

26



Eastleigh Borough Council

45. Ward councillors will be aware that the existing boardwalk is rapidly 
deteriorating. It is being continually repaired by the Council’s Direct Services 
team at a cost to this Committee.

46. The current boardwalk is made of wood which is rotting. It is proposed to 
replace the entire boardwalk with a composite material which will not splinter, 
split or rot. In fact there will be little maintenance required.

47. This product also has a warranty for ten years and the supplier’s literature 
states that it is slip resistant.

48. It is therefore recommended that the following Developers Contributions are 
allocated:-

TRF/14/74489 Physio World Ltd, Unit 12 Hedge End Business Centre, 
Botley Road, Hedge End. Receipt Date: 03/07/2014                 £2661.91

TRF/08/63110 Mr Watts, land at 6 Pardoe Close, Hedge End. £2,338.09

Financial Implications

49. There is sufficient funding within this Committee’s revenue and capital 
budgets to afford the proposed projects.

Risk Assessment

50. All of the recommended developers’ contributions have been received by the 
Council. All conform to the CIL requirements.

51. Failure to approve the funding for these projects will affect the Council’s ability 
to meet its corporate and Local First objectives. There is also a potential 
health and safety issue with the boardwalk at Berrywood.

Equality and Diversity Implications

52. The Equality Act is relevant to some of the decisions in this report as they  
relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity or 
fostering good relations between different people in the following ways:-

 Provision of an access gate to Cutbush Lane Playing Fields

This will result in an improvement for people with the “protected characteristic 
of disability”. A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out 
because while there are some equality impacts, it is not proportionate to carry 
out a full EIA.

53. The Young People’s Wellbeing Service, Friday Night Football and Parksport 
will bring benefits to younger people. These are longstanding projects which 
have bespoke equality assessments with regular reviews.

27



Eastleigh Borough Council

Conclusion

54. The recommended projects will provide future benefit to the local community 
and will help to sustain and create new services and activities. Councillors are 
requested to approve the recommendations.

JULIA BIRT
LOCAL AREA MANAGER

Date: 31 January 2019
Contact Officer: Julia Birt
Tel No: 023 8068 8437
e-mail: Julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: None

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information

April – September 2018 The Teenage Drop-In Centres, Hedge End and Hamble

Park Sport report 2018 Eastleigh Borough Council

28



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley 4 March 2019

Application 
number:

F/19/84807

Case Officer: Kitty Budden
Received Date: 18/01/2019
Site Address: Wildern Leisure Centre, Wildern School, Wildern Lane, 

Hedge End
Applicant: Marie Louise Litton
Proposal: Extension to existing swimming pool building and 

replacement roof.
Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION

CONDITIONS AND REASONS:

1) The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in 
accordance with the following plans numbered: P0457/009 Rev 2, 
P0457/010 Rev 0, DR-A-1000 Rev P1, 5181890-ATK-BHM-ARB001, 
2000 Rev P2, 2100 P2, 2200 Rev P3, 2700 Rev P2, 2001 Rev P2, DR-
A-1100 Rev P3, DR-A-1200 Rev P2 and DR-A-1210 Rev P2.  Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2) The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years 
from the date of this decision. Reason: To comply with Section 91 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3) Prior to the commencement of any demolition or construction works, a 
minimum of one no. bat survey (dusk emergence or dawn re-entry) 
shall be carried out to inform any necessary mitigation and 
compensation strategy.  A copy of the survey results and the mitigation 
and compensation strategy (if required) shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The works shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved strategy.  Reason: To 
protect bat species.

4) No development shall start on site until a construction and environment 
management plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Planning Authority, which takes account of the Site 
Parameters Diagram, and shall include:
(a) A programme and phasing of demolition and construction work;
(b) The provision of long term facilities for contractor parking;
(c) The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction 
works (taking into account school operating hours);
(d) Access and egress for plant and machinery; 
(e) A scheme for controlling noise and vibration from demolition and 
construction activities (to include piling, if necessary);

29

Agenda Item 9



(f) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by 
demolition and construction;
(g) Protection of pedestrian routes during construction;
(h) Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 
material, and plant storage areas;
(i) Methodology for preventing mud transferring to the highway, and 
details of cleaning should this occur.
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance 
with the approved CEMP.
Reason – To limit the impact the development has on the locality.

5) Prior to reaching dcp level, details and samples of the materials to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development 
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. Reason: To ensure a 
satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the amenities of the 
area.

Note to Applicant: Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 
38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018), Eastleigh 
Borough Council takes a positive approach to the handling of 
development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive 
outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner.

Report:

1. This application has been referred to Committee because the project 
would be funded and delivered by Eastleigh Borough Council. 

The Site and Its Surroundings

2. The site is formed of the existing swimming pool building which in itself 
forms part of the Wildern Leisure Centre.  The building occupies a 
location within the larger Wildern Academy Trust School site and sits 
close to the entrance to the school complex from Wildern Lane.

3. It is enclosed on three sides by other structures which provide leisure 
centre functions, including the plant room for the two pools.  On the 
southern side of the building, there is currently a small area of open, 
grassed, land with pedestrian route to the south, adjacent to the access 
road and parking area for the school complex.   

4. The two swimming pools within the leisure centre serve the school and 
the local community, providing the facilities for leisure swimming, 
exercise, swimming lessons and swimming clubs.  The larger pool to 
which this application relates, was constructed in the late 1970s and is 
covered by a GRP (Glass Reinforced Plastic) steel framed enclosure.

30



5. This enclosure is coming to the end of its useful life span. As a 
consequence, the roof leaks and collects significant amounts of 
condensation which often enters the swimming pool, thereby negatively 
impacting water quality.  The existing enclosure results in a poor 
internal environment for users, with temperature extremes in summer 
and winter.  This results in an excessive energy demand and high 
running costs in attempting to compensate for the poor conditions. 

6. Due to the footprint of the enclosure there is limited capacity to 
accommodate spectators pool-side.

Description of Application

7. The proposal seeks to replace and extend the existing enclosure to 
provide a 79 sqm extension to the swimming pool building, facilitating 
spectator space; and a new roof to the building.

8. As much as possible, the existing structure will be retained, utilising the 
steel frame to the gable ends and adjoining structures.  The size of the 
pool will not increase.

9. The application is accompanied by a Location Plan, Elevations, Floor, 
Roof and Section Plans, Wall Detail and Site Parameters Diagram.

10. In addition, the following documents were submitted to support the 
application:

- Design and Access Statement;
- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal;
- Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Constraints Plan.

Habitat Regulations Assessment

11.While the site falls within the HRA screening buffer zone for the impact 
on the Solent and Southampton Water SPA, the proposal is not 
considered to result in a likely significant impact on a European 
Protected site (SPA, SAC or Ramsar) due to the minor size and nature 
of the proposed works. HRA (Habitat Regulations Assessment) 
screening was not required for this development.

Relevant Planning History

12.There has been a range of planning applications on the wider Wildern 
School site over an extended period.  Of most relevance to this 
application, is the consent granted in 1977 for the construction of the 
swimming pool (planning reference Z/14819/002/00).

31



Representations Received

13.Neighbours to the site were notified in writing and a site notice erected, 
with a deadline for representations of 13 February.  A Press Notice was 
also advertised, with a deadline of 1 March.

14.To date, two representations have been received.  One letter of support 
commented that this would be a welcome addition for both the school 
and the community.  The second representation raised questions 
regarding provision of a dry pedestrian route to the viewing area; 
possible refurbishment of the changing rooms and the provision of a 
foot bath.

15.Councillors will be updated at Committee should further 
representations be received.

Consultation Responses (Summarised)

16.HCC Highways Development: No objection, subject to CEMP condition.  
No parking is to be removed as part of the application, and the 
proposals would appear to be a betterment of current facilities rather 
than to increase usage. As such, no additional vehicle trips are 
anticipated.

17.Hedge End Town Council: No objection. 

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Within HRA Buffer Zone

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

The Development Plan

18.At the current time the Development Plan for the Borough comprises 
the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013).

19.This site is not within a Minerals Safeguarding Area and therefore is not 
applicable to this application.

Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 
(EBLP 2001-2011) 

20.The key policies of the adopted local plan are: 

- 25.NC – Nature Conservation;
- 59.BE – General Design Criteria;

32



- 148.OS – Improvement of Sport and Recreation Facilities;
- 186.IN – Improvement of Facilities for Use by the Community.

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029

21.The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  
While this has not been withdrawn and remains a material 
consideration, it can therefore be considered to have extremely limited 
weight in the determination of this application.

Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036

22.The Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 31st 
October 2018 and the Council is awaiting confirmation of the date for 
examination.  The adoption of the Local Plan is anticipated in late 
Summer 2019.  Given the status of the emerging Plan, it is considered 
that limited weight can be attributed to it as a whole.

Supplementary Planning Documents

23.Relevant documents are:

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 
2011)

National Planning Policy Framework

24.At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ 
or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in 
the determination of planning applications. The National Planning 
Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as 
required by statute) applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. There is a general presumption in 
favour of sustainable development and (unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise). Three dimensions of sustainability are to be sought 
jointly: economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); 
social (providing housing, creating high quality environment with 
accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to, 
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst 
local circumstances should also be taken into account, so they respond 
to the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in 
different areas.

25.Core planning principles include;
 always seeking to secure high quality design; 
 contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

and reducing pollution; and,

33



 promoting healthy and safe communities, providing the social, 
recreational and cultural facilities and services the community 
needs.

26.LPAs should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 
could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning 
obligations.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

27.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the 
consideration of planning applications. 

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

28.Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a 
local planning authority determining an application to do so in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.

29.As indicated above, for this application, the Development Plan 
comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review 2001-2011; the NPPF and the Planning Practice Guidance 
constitute material considerations of significant weight.

30.Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take 
full and proper account of the context of the site including the 
character and appearance of the locality and be appropriate in 
mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting.  It also requires a 
high standard of landscape design, have a satisfactory means of 
access and layout for vehicles, cyclist and pedestrians, make 
provision for refuse and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on 
neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, 
noise and fumes.

31.Saved Policy 148.OS supports appropriate proposals which address 
deficiencies in the quality of sport and recreation facilities at Wildern 
School, amongst other.  

32.Saved Policy 186.IN supports proposals which improve existing 
facilities that are used by the community, provided they would not 
adversely affect the residential amenity of nearby occupiers. 

Principle:
33.The site is located within the Urban Edge and therefore the general 

principle of development is accepted, subject to the proposal 
meeting the criteria set out in all other relevant policies.

34



34.The proposals seek to deliver improvements to an existing sports 
facility that provides community use, thereby meeting the aims of 
Saved Policies 148.OS and 186.IN.  

35.As such, the principle of the proposed works is accepted.

Design:

36.The design of the structure has been carefully considered, taking 
account of the constraints of the immediate surroundings (ie. the 
buildings and roof forms which link to, or are in close proximity to, 
the swimming pool structure); and the funding constraints of the 
project. The public consultation event which was carried out on 7 
January was well attended and as a consequence of the feedback a 
minor amendment made to the scheme to provide an external door 
to new seating area.  

37.The design is simple and pulls together the existing array of roof 
forms, unifying the structures to enhance the visual appearance of 
this area of the wider school complex (which includes the entrance 
to the school site). The mono pitch roof allows for the installation of 
PVs at a later date should funding be available.  The use of coloured 
translucent panels allows for light to filter into the pool room, while 
blocking direct views from outside.    

38.While the site would benefit from further enhancements to improve 
the legibility of the site in general, this is not part of this project.  
However, this proposal does not hinder future opportunities to 
deliver those wider enhancements.  

39.The proposal is considered to have taken account of the context of 
the site and its surroundings and is an appropriate design for the 
locality.  As such, the proposal complies with Saved Policy 59.BE.

Ecology and Trees:
40.An Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Preliminary Ecological 

Assessment were undertaken and confirm there is limited impact as 
a result of this proposal.

41.No trees are within the immediate vicinity of the proposed structure.  
Where there is the potential for trees to be impacted as a result of 
the construction works, a Tree Protection Plan has been provided 
which identifies the location of fencing to protect these trees.  A 
condition is recommended to secure this fencing for the duration of 
the construction phase.

42.The ecological assessment confirms the site has low potential for 
ecology and recommends a minimum of one emergence survey is 
carried out to confirm that no bats are using the structure before 

35



works commence.  Due to the low risk, this is reasonable and can be 
conditioned.

43.The proposal is considered to comply with Saved Policy 25.NC.

Amenity:

44.Given the site is within a school complex with community use of the 
leisure centre, the construction phase of the development has the 
potential to cause significant disturbance and disruption.  This was a 
frequent comment made by the public attending the public 
consultation event.

45.Following discussions prior to the application being submitted, 
careful consideration has been given to how the construction phase 
would be undertaken and the most appropriate locations for the 
construction compound, welfare units and the best routing 
arrangements for construction traffic to avoid conflict with service 
users.  

46.The application is supported by a Site Parameters Diagram which 
sets out the proposed arrangements for these elements, together 
with delivery time restrictions.

47.These proposals are supported and should limit the impact on 
school operation and community use of the leisure centre.  However, 
there remains the potential for dust, vibration and noise to cause a 
detrimental impact and therefore a condition is recommended to 
require a Construction and Environment Management Plan to be 
provided, which will cover these matters.

Other Matters:

48.As part of the public consultation event, additional works were 
requested by the public, including refurbishment of the changing 
rooms and improvements to other facilities.  While other 
improvements may be desirable and could potentially be carried out 
during these works, this project relates solely to the extension of the 
swimming pool enclosure and replacement of the roof.  

49.The request for a dry pedestrian route to the viewing area has been 
addressed through the provision of an external door with a footpath 
externally for access/egress.  

Planning obligation /considerations

50. In accordance with the guidance contained within the NPPF, Saved 
Policies 74.H, 101.T, 147.OS and 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policies DM32 and DM37 of 

36



the Submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, the Council’s 
‘Planning Obligations’ SPD and the requirements of Regulation 122 of 
the Community Infrastructure Regulations, there is a requirement for 
developers’ contributions to ensure on and off-site provision for 
facilities and infrastructure made necessary by the development, or to 
mitigate against any increased need/pressure on existing facilities. 

51.While the proposed extension to the swimming pool building increases 
the footprint of the building, it does not increase the size of the pool and 
therefore is not considered to increase the usage of the facility or 
associated traffic movements.  As such, no contributions are required 
to mitigate the impact of the development.

Conclusion

52.The proposed development improves an existing sports facility widely 
used by the community, thereby ensuring its continued availability for 
the school and the community.  The design is appropriate for the 
context and improves the visual appearance of the building, enhancing 
the wider school complex environment.   

53.The proposal meets the relevant local policies and accords with 
national guidance and policies.  As such, the proposal is recommended 
for permission, subject to necessary planning conditions.

37



38



 
Application Number: F/18/83908
Case Officer: Craig Morrison
Received Date: Friday 24 August 2018
Site Address: THORNEYDOWN FARM, MOORHILL ROAD, WEST END, 

SOUTHAMPTON, SO30 3AY
Applicant: James Cole
Proposal: Construction of golf course extension and its dual use for 

temporary, occasional car parking for major events (more 
than 15,000 capacity) for the Ageas Bowl between April and 
October for up to 1300 cars on approximately 12 occasions 
per annum. Associated landscaping, drainage, ecological 
enhancement, tree works and earthworks.
 

Recommendation: Delegate to the Lead Specialist, Housing and Development 
to secure a revised layout to overcome ecology and 
landscape objections and to complete a Section 106 legal 
agreement (to secure a construction lorry routing agreement 
and construction management plan and public access).

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS
 
1
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: 1695.01, 1695.02, 1695.03, 1695.04, 1695.05, 
1695.06, 1695.07, 1695.08, 1695.09, 1695.10, 1695.11.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
 

2
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision.

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.
 
 

3
 
 

Plans and particulars showing the proposals for all the following aspects of the 
development must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before the development is commenced. The development 
must then accord with these approved details. Reason: In order that these 
matters may be considered by the Local Planning Authority.
a: The full details and design and layout of surface water drainage, which shall 
include a sustainable drainage system 
b: The full details of the manner of treatment of existing water courses and 
ditches.
c: Proposed ground levels and relationship to existing levels both within the site 
and on immediately adjoining land.
d. Details of all hard surfacing including temporary surfacing for major event 
days
 

39

Agenda Item 10



4
 
 

The uses hereby permitted as a golf course and temporary parking shall be 
used only in conjunction and ancillary to The Ageas Bowl and existing golf 
course to the north of the site. For the avoidance of doubt the site must not be 
used for any other purpose including parking for other venues, events or 
premises.  
 

5
 
 

The use of the development as a temporary car park for major events hereby 
permitted shall comply with the submitted details in respect of the provision of 
Visitor Management Plans as set out in section 4 of the submitted Transport 
Assessment reference 70020725TR1 .

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and highway safety.
 

6
 
 

Details of Contractor's site hut location and any areas designated for the 
storage of building materials must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before development commences. The 
development must then accord with these approved details. Notwithstanding 
the provisions of the Town and Country Planning General Permitted 
Development Order 1995 site huts and building 10 materials must not be stored 
elsewhere on the site without the prior written permission of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure that natural features are not damaged.
 

7
 
 

The existing access and egress route from Charles Watts Way shall not be 
brought into use for the movement of construction vehicles and deliveries until a 
scheme for access and surface improvement that has first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority has been implemented. 
Following the construction works ceasing this access shall not be used except 
in emergencies unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.
 
Reason: To safeguard the free flow of traffic on the Local and Strategic 
Highway Network   
 
 

8
 
 

No construction or demolition work shall take place other than between 08:00 
hours and 18:00 hours Monday to Friday, 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on 
Saturdays. No work shall take place on a Sunday or Public Holidays.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.
 
 

9
 
 

Prior to the commencement of works, a detailed noise management plan shall 
be submitted to, and agreed in writing, by the LPA. The noise management 
plans must include:

a. Details of the proposed monitoring locations in relation to noise-sensitive 
properties/areas, the proposed noise limits at these locations, and of the wider 
compliance noise monitoring programme to be carried out;

40



b. Details of the plant and equipment to be used which shall be designed to 
minimise noise emissions at source;
c. Details of the methods/systems of work to be followed which shall minimise 
noise emissions at source;
d. Arrangements for ensuring the maintenance of plant and equipment so as to 
minimise noise emissions at source;
e. Details of the noise mitigation measures to be implemented, including details 
of proposed acoustic barriers/screens, enclosures, and similar measures;
f. Details of the location of contractors compounds in relation to noise sensitive 
properties/areas;
g. Full details of the measures to be taken to ensure that all plant and 
equipment (including generators, pumps, compressors etc.) will be sited and/or 
acoustically screened/enclosed so as to achieve the set noise limits.
Thereafter, the construction phase work shall be monitored and maintained in 
accordance with the approved management plan
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.
 

10
 
 

Prior to the commencement of works, a detailed dust management plan shall be 
submitted to, and agreed in writing, by the LPA. The dust management plan 
must include:
a. Details on the baseline conditions of the existing dust climate around the site;
b. Details of a dust monitoring scheme;
c. Details of the measures to minimise dust generating activities;
d. Details of the site layout in order to ensure that machinery and dust causing 
activities are located away from sensitive receptors;
e. Hard surfacing of site haul routes and the arrangements for sweeping;
f. Details on damping down systems;
g. Use of a site speed limit and enforcement of this;
h. No idling vehicles;
i. Details of vehicle cleaning and fixed wheel washing on leaving site;
j. Procedures to minimise movement of construction traffic around site;
k. The use of cutting equipment fitted with water suppressant or suitable local 
exhaust ventilation
l. Use of enclosed chutes, covered skips, sheeting of HGVs;
m. Details on the location of stockpiles and the use of covering to prevent wind 
whipping;
n. Re-vegetation of exposed areas;
o. Details on the circumstances and arrangements for the suspension of dust-
emitting activities in the event of adverse weather conditions.

Thereafter the construction phase work shall be monitored and maintained in 
accordance with the management plan .

Reason: In the interests of amenity.
 

11
 
 

The burning of materials obtained by site clearance or from any other source 
must not take place on this site.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.
 

41



12
 
 

Prior to the commencement of works on any part of the site, the following must 
be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority :
a. A Desk Study documenting all the previous and existing land uses of the site 
and adjacent land in accordance with national guidance as set out in 
Contaminated Land Reports Nos. 1 and 2, and BS10175:2001 Investigation of 
potentially contaminated sites Code of Practice, and, unless otherwise agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority;
b. A site investigation report documenting the ground conditions of the site and 
incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk 
study in accordance with BS10175:2001, and, unless otherwise agreed with the 
Local Planning Authority;
c. A detailed scheme for remedial works and measures to be undertaken to 
avoid the risk from contaminants and/or gases when the site is developed and 
proposals for future maintenance and monitoring. Such a scheme shall include 
nomination of a competent person to oversee the implementation of the works.

Reason: In the interests of amenity.
 

13
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied / brought into use until 
there has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority verification by the 
competent person approved under the provisions of condition that any 
remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of the above 
condition has been implemented fully in accordance with the approved details 
(unless varied with the written permission of the Local Planning Authority in 
advance of implementation). Unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority such verification shall comprise: 

a. photographs of the remediation works in progress,
b. certificates demonstrating that imported and / or material left in situ is free 
from contamination.

Thereafter the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with 
the scheme approved under condition 20. Reason: In the interests of amenity.
 

14
 
 

Prior to the commencement of development, soil testing protocols and 
certification procedures and on-site storage proposals for all imported materials 
for use in the remodelling, extension, redesign and landscaping of the golf 
course shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and shall be fully complied with.

Reason: In the interests of amenity.
 

15
 
 

Prior to the commencement of  development, a detailed artificial lighting plan for 
the development must be submitted to, and agreed in writing, by the LPA. The 
plans shall include:

a. Full details of the location of artificial lighting (including temporary lighting 
both during construction and operation of the development) the areas to be lit 
(relative to surrounding area), luminance levels, height and spacing of lighting 
columns, and the frequency and length of use (in terms of hours of illumination);

42



b. Full details of the measures taken to mitigate the impacts of the proposed 
lighting from nearby visual receptors, highway safety and protected species.

Reason: in the interests of visual and residential amenity.
 

16
 
 

Other than those which are identified for removal on the approved plans the 
existing trees, hedges and woodland shown to be retained on the approved 
plans shall not be removed without the prior written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity.
 

17
 
 

No excavation, demolition or development related works shall take place on site 
until an arboricultural monitoring statement proposal, detailing supervision 
activity of arboriculturally sensitive operations and inspections of tree protection 
measures, has been submitted and approved by the LPA. The approved 
arboricultural monitoring statement proposal must be adhered to in full, and 
may only be modified subject to written agreement from the LPA. This condition 
may only be fully discharged upon completion of the proposed development, subject to 
submission of monitoring reports. 

Reason - To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part 
of the amenity of the locality.
 
 

18
 
 

Before the development commences, or by such later date as the Local 
Planning Authority may determine, a landscape scheme comprising planting, 
details of hard surfacing and means of enclosure must be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme must 
include a planting specification and schedule, and shall indicate the position, 
size, number, planting density and species of shrubs and trees. A seed or turf 
specification must be provided for areas to be grassed. The planting scheme 
must include details of phasing, timing and provision for management and 
maintenance during the first ten years from the date of planting.

Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development is satisfactory.
 

19
 
 

The landscape scheme must be completed within 12 months from the 
completion of the golf course or by such later date as the Local Planning 
Authority may determine. Any trees or plants which die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased during the first five years must be replaced 
during the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless 
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development is satisfactory
 

20
 
 

Details of the type of construction proposed for the roads and footways 
including all relevant horizontal cross sections and longitudinal sections 
showing the existing and proposed levels together and the method of disposing 
of surface water and details of the programme for the making up of the roads 

43



and footways must be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing before development commences.

Reason: To ensure that the roads are constructed to an appropriate standard.
 

21
 
 

Development shall not commence until a Bird Hazard Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
submitted plan shall include details of:

a. monitoring of any standing water within the site temporary or permanent
b. sustainable urban drainage schemes (SUDS). Such schemes shall comply 
with Advice Note 6 ‘Potential Bird Hazards from Sustainable 19 Urban Drainage 
schemes (SUDS) (available at www.caa.co.uk/srg/aerodrome ).
c. management of any flat/shallow pitched/green roofs on buildings within the 
site which may be attractive to nesting, roosting and loafing birds. The 
management plan shall comply with Advice Note 8 ‘Potential Bird Hazards from 
Building Design’
d. maintenance of planted and landscaped areas, particularly in terms of height 
and species of plants that are allowed to grow
e. physical arrangements for the collection (including litter bins) and storage of 
putrescible waste, arrangements for and frequency of the removal of putrescible 
waste The Bird Hazard Management Plan shall be implemented as approved, 
on completion of the development and shall remain in force for the life of the 
building.

No subsequent alterations to the plan are to take place unless first submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: It is necessary to manage the development in order to minimise its 
attractiveness to birds which could endanger the safe movement of aircraft and 
the operation of Southampton Airport.
 

 
 

Report:

This application has been referred to Committee because it is a major 
development and Eastleigh Borough Council has an ownership interest in the 
site.

Introduction /background

1. The proposal is for the extension of the existing golf course to the north 
and east of the application site. The land levels on site would be re-
profiled to achieve the required topography. The existing golf course 
has 18 holes, following the approval of the previous extension under 
permission F/07/61830. The proposal would not add additional holes to 

44



the course but would result in the holes being more spread out across 
the area. 

2. The extended golf course, once completed, would be used as for 
parking cars during major events at the Ageas Bowl. A permanent walk 
way through the north eastern boundary of the site would be 
constructed as well as a partial access road through the north-western 
boundary of the site for vehicles.

Site and surroundings

3. The Ageas Bowl is located within an area designated as countryside 
and Strategic Gap between Southampton and West End and Hedge 
End.  The overall site extends to 150 acres and incorporates the cricket 
stadium and stands, a practice pitch, a hotel, a golf course and 
physiotherapy centre, as well as the main pavilion building providing 
support facilities including meeting rooms, restaurants etc and provision 
for other sports.  The site is bound by the Hampshire Tennis Club, the 
Express Holiday Inn Hotel, Botley Road to the north, the M27 to the 
east, Charles Watts Way to the south and Telegraph Woods and 
residential properties on Moorhill Road, Kenilworth Gardens and 
Westgate Mews to the west and north.  

.  

Detailed Proposals

4. The main elements of the scheme comprise landscaping/re-modelling 
works which would involve the importation of 56,958 cubic metres of fill 
which would be used to re-contour the site to provide a flatter 
landscape to provide the fairways, the space would also be used during 
the months of April and October for temporary car parking for 
approximately 1300 cars; this would be for approximately 12 occasions 
per year.  The total land area affected would be 8 ha.  The land levels 
would be increased by a maximum of 4.0m with the majority of land 
level changes being approximately 2.0m.  

5. Construction timing-duration:  these proposals would require 6,328 total 
lorry movements to accomplish. The importation element of the project 
would therefore be completed in 36 weeks with 60 vehicles per day. 
The application proposes the use of the existing entrance and exit route 
from Charles Watts Way for lorries bringing spoil to the site. Following 
the construction of the golf course this access would remain open but 
used for emergency use only. 

Supporting information

6. The application is supported by the following information : 
 Planning and Design and Access Statement

45



 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
 Ecological Impact Assessment
 Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage Report
 Cultural, Heritage and Archaeological Assessment
 Water Framework Directive Assessment.
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Survey.
 Transport Assessment

7. The proposal has been screened  under the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations 
2017 due to its scale as it is above the thresholds set out in Schedule 2. 
Part 12 (criterion f), sets out that developments above 1 hectare are 
EIA development if it is deemed that they are likely to have significant 
effects on the environment. It has been determined, that subject to the 
use of appropriate conditions that the proposal would not have likely 
significant effects on the environment and therefore would not be 
development requiring an Environmental Statement.  

8. Without appropriate mitigation it is likely that the development would 
have a likely significant impact on a European Designated Site; 
however it is likely to be concluded that, with mitigation and conditions 
to control impacts, no significant likely impacts on any European 
Designated sites would occur as a result of the development; habitats 
regulation assessment and appropriate assessment have been sent 
and are awaiting the opinion of Natural England. 

Relevant planning history

9. In summary:

X/15/75888 - Relief of Conditions 13 & 17 of planning permission 
Z/30368/022 to allow for the staging of a maximum of three concerts 
per annum with a maximum audience at each of up to 35,000 
spectators. - Permit 2015

F/07/61830 - Construction of 4-storey, 175-bedroom hotel to include 
dual media & hospitality uses, media centre, restaurant & bar, golf 
clubhouse facility conference rooms & spa leisure facility with car 
parking & access from Marshall Drive; construction of new covered 
stands to include permanent & temporary seating (total site capacity 
25,000 spectators), catering facilities, executive boxes, retail units, 
screens & scoreboard, match control room, outside broadcast 
compound & perimeter fencing; redesign, re-contouring & extension of 
existing golf course to provide 18-hole golf course to include re-routing 
of footpaths, a feature lake & landscaping; & provision of temporary 
construction access off Botley Road.(Application includes 
Environmental Statement and is subject to Environmental Impact 
Assessment) - Permit 2009

46



Consultation responses

10.Borough Ecologist – Holding Objection 
No objection to the principle of development
The access road at the current proposed location will result in the 
removal of a large amount of scrub/ trees.  This loss is considerable 
and the route should be relocated
Further clarity on footpath and bridge in relation to woodland
Phase I survey does not cover western part of site and identifies north-
south hedge row intact – does not correspond with plans
Revision of layout to allow restoration of acid grassland – areas used 
for parking will have limited biodiversity value
Parking too close to southern boundary – impact on slowworms and 
lizards – buffers required
Further details required of swales, watercourses, wetland 
enhancement, culverts and de-culverting and footbridges required
Further detail of surface solutions required – location and specification

11.Borough Health and Wellbeing Specialist – Final Comments awaited

12.Borough Landscape Specialist – Holding Objection.  
New road access would result in tree loss, require out of character 
landscape changes and adopt a highly artificial route

Temporary parking would be acceptable if limited to 12 days per year 
and adequate screened, however with the current proposal insufficient 
landscaping is achievable

New fairways would dramatically change the character of the existing 
landscape. This would be acceptable if designed in a sensitive way with 
sufficient native screen planting that mimicked a natural landscape.

13.Borough Trees Consultant - Holding Objection – Satisfied with tree 
protection for the east of the site, Confirmation on level of tree loss 
required, Tree group G7 needs further assessment to determine impact 
of the provision of the footpath

14.Borough Environmental Health Specialist – final comments awaited

15.HCC Countryside Team – Comment - Any works should not affect the 
Right of Way through the site. If there is likely to be an effect on the 
Right of Way its temporary closure should be discussed directly with the 
Countryside Planning Service.

16.HCC Highways No Objection – Subject to conditions limiting the 
number of events to 12 per year, approval of an event management 
plan, restriction of the gate access on Charles Watts Way to emergency 
vehicles only, pre-booked car parking only. 

47



17.Hampshire County Council (Waste Management) – Comment – The 
site is a minerals safeguarding zone and should not be sterilised by the 
development. The development should consider the re-use of material 
on site from cutting and therefore further information should be 
supplied.

18.Hampshire County Council (Flood and Water) – No Objection -  The 
proposals for surface water drainage meet the current standards/best 
practice in relation to surface water drainage.

19.Highways England - Holding Comments – Clarification on the use of  
Botley Road and Moorhill Road and how this will be enforced. A defined 
attendance threshold is required for the implementation of a Traffic 
Management Plan, marshalling and a cap on the number of events per 
year. 

Further information on junction capacities and the methods of 
controlling vehicles were recommended but it was acknowledged that 
some of these issues could be resolved by the use of a Traffic 
Management Plan.

20.Southampton Airport Safeguarding – No Objection - No Objection 
subject to a bird hazard management plan and control of tree species 
and numbers.

21.West End Parish Council – no objection

22.Neighbours – 6 letters of objection in relation to traffic impacts, noise 
and dust from construction and traffic (including in combination with 
other developments), highway safety, impact of car lights, ecological 
impacts on bats and deer as well as non material planning 
considerations including loss of property value and future developments 
for housing  

Development Plan Policies

23.Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
states:  “If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose 
of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the 
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise”.  The development plan in 
this instance consists of   the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 
(2001-2011) and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013.  Other 
material considerations include the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and supporting Guidance (NPPG), the Submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 and the Council’s adopted 
Supplementary Planning Documents where relevant. 

48



National Planning Policy Framework/Guidance  

24.The NPPF states that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Para 14 sets out a general 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and states that 
development proposals which accord with the development plan should 
be approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, 
silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission should 
be granted unless the adverse impacts of the development would 
outweigh the benefits; or specific policies in the Framework indicate 
development should be restricted (paragraph 14). Local plan policies 
that do not accord with the NPPF are now deemed to be “out-of-date”. 
The NPPF requires that due weight should be given to relevant policies 
in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the 
NPPF. In other words the closer the policies in the plan accord to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given.

25.Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 7 are to be 
sought jointly: economic (supporting economy and ensuring land 
availability); social (providing housing, creating high quality environment 
with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to, 
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst 
paragraph 10 advises that plans and decisions need to take local 
circumstances into account, so they respond to the different 
opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas. 
The NPPF also seeks to ensure that flood risk is not increased and to 
minimise impacts on biodiversity/encourage improvements and prevent 
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution and provide 
mitigation where needed.

26.Planning Authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable 
development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions 
or planning obligations.

Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 
(EBLP 2001-2011) 

Relevant “saved policies” in the adopted EBLP Review include the 
following:- 

158.OS – designates a special policy for the Rose Bowl (Ageas) site.  
Accepts the principle of outdoor sport and recreational development 
subject to meeting detailed criteria including:  development must be for 
outdoor sport/recreation purposes or ancillary to those uses; high 
quality design and layout; any areas to be used for occasional or short-
term car parking must be provided with an appropriate soft surface, be 
well landscaped and be retained for car parking only; no increase to 
flood risk downstream and within the river corridor.  

49



1.CO – restricts development in the countryside 

2.CO – prevents development in gaps which would visually or 
physically diminish the 

18.CO – protects high quality landscapes

25.NC – promotion of biodiversity

45.ES – Sustainable  Drainage requirements

59.BE – seeks high quality development and to control impacts on 
neighbouring uses

100.T – seeks to ensure use of public transport where possible and 
ensure that measures are put in place to minimise impact on the 
highway network

102.T – Ensuring highways safety and environmental standards of New 
accesses

 

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 - The application site lies 
within a mineral consultation area.

Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
The Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 31st 
October 2018 and the Council is awaiting confirmation of the date for 
examination.  The adoption of the Local Plan is anticipated in Summer 
2019.  Given the status of the emerging Plan, it is considered that 
limited weight can be attributed to it.

For larger sites/sites specifically identified in the LP, we may need to 
refer to the LP submission to confirm whether any objections have been 
received and if so, what the Council’s response has been, as this may 
affect the weight given to these site-specific policies (ie. if no objections 
have been received, more weight may be given to the policy).

Supplementary Planning Guidance

27.Supplementary Planning document : Biodiversity (December 2009)

Planning Considerations 

Principle of development 

28.The application site lies within the countryside as set out in the adopted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2011. Saved Policy 1.CO applies 

50



which allows for new development in the countryside subject to at least 
one of the criteria. Criterion ii of that policy allows for development that 
“it is for an outdoor recreational use or is genuinely required ancillary to 
such a use and does not require the provision of buildings, 
hardstanding or structures which, are of a form, scale or design which 
would demonstrably harm the character of the locality” 

29.Whilst the site lies outside of the Rose Bowl Special Policy Area,  
Saved Policy 158.OS does provide a useful method of assessing the 
impacts. Policy 158.OS states that “Proposals for further development 
in the Rose Bowl and Tennis Centre Special Policy Area will only be 
permitted if they conform to all the following criteria: 

• development, other than the proposed hotel, must be for outdoor sport 
or recreational purposes or for buildings strictly ancillary to such uses; 
• any buildings or structures must be appropriate in scale, form and 
location to the predominantly green and open character of the area and 
should only be visible from the surrounding area in the context of the 
wider landscape setting; 
• development must be of a high quality layout and design, with careful 
attention to detailing, hard landscaping and planting; 
• proposals for floodlighting on any part of the site must be of a scale, 
form, location and luminosity that would not affect the predominantly 
open character of the area.

30.The primary usage of the site would be as a golf course which is 
considered to meet the requirements of an outdoor recreational use. 
The amount of hardstanding is limited to a paved path through the north 
east corner of the site and an extension to the existing road that runs 
through the golf course to the north of the site. Accordingly, given the 
size of the site, subject to an acceptable detailed design the road is not 
considered to harm the character of the locality. 

31.The use of the site as a car park for match days is considered to be 
genuinely required ancillary to the Ageas Bowl itself. It is therefore 
considered that on balance the proposal for this development within the 
countryside is in accordance with Policy 1.CO and would not harm this 
policy’s objective of preventing inappropriate development in the 
countryside. 

32.The landscape officer has raised concern about lighting on the site. The 
site would not contain any new buildings and lighting with the exception 
of temporary lighting during match days. The details of this can be 
secured by condition to ensure that the impacts on the countryside and 
protected species is acceptable. Landscaping can be controlled by the 
proposed conditions, although there are concerns around the proposed 
layout of the site in relation to landscaping as explored in the next 
section of this recommendation. 

51



33. It is considered that with the proposed conditions the development of 
the golf course would be acceptable in relation to maintaining the 
special function of the Ageas Bowl as a sporting venue and the use of 
the land as a golf course as well as allowing for additional parking for 
larger events. The proposal would therefore meet the requirements of 
Policy 1.CO and 158.OS. 

34.Saved Policy 2.CO requires that development proposed in a strategic 
gap does not physically or visually diminish that strategic gap. The 
proposals would be visible from the A334, Charles Watts Way. The 
development would change the character of the site by virtue of the 
more managed landscape that it would create rather than the current 
open field that maintains a more natural agrarian feel. The purpose of 
the policy is to prevent the coalescence of settlements both visually and 
physically. The Council’s Landscape Design Specialist has raised a 
holding objection on the basis that the proposal would harm the 
character of the gap. Particular issues highlighted are the artificial route 
of the road to the west of the site, the loss of trees to provide the road 
and the landform changes that are proposed which would remove some 
of the undulating features of the site. 

35.The use of the golf course would not require much in the way of built 
form and would maintain the open appearance of the site and therefore 
would maintain the separation between Southampton and Hedge End 
and West End. Notwithstanding the Landscape Design Specialist’s 
comments it is considered that the site would not physically or visually 
reduce the gap and therefore would be in accordance with the 
requirements and objectives of Policy 2.CO. 

36.When in use as a car park the site would take on a more urban form 
and would visually diminish the gap between Hedge End, West End 
and Southampton. This use is proposed only for major event days, and 
does not require permanent car park surfacing or lighting, and therefore 
this harm is limited and is not considered to harm the objective of the 
policy. The Ageas has recently lost the use of other park and ride/stride 
facilities at Windhover Roundabout and Peacehaven to the north of 
Botley Road. These facilities are therefore not an alien feature in this 
area or within local gap.  

37. It is material to this consideration that the use of the land for temporary 
parking is granted by Part 4 Class B of the General Permitted 
Development Order. An objection on this basis alone is not considered 
appropriate to refuse the application.  

38.The use of the land as a golf course and temporary car park is not 
considered to harm the objectives or criteria of Policies 1.CO, 2.CO or 
158.OS and the proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in 
principle subject to detailed consideration of the other relevant policies 
and material considerations. 

52



Sustainable Development

39.The proposals would meet NPPF economic and social sustainability 
objectives through its support for the functional needs of a major 
employer and recreational facility in the Borough and beyond.  The 
assessment of environmental sustainability includes matters of 
landscape impact, ecology, drainage, amenity and transport.

Landscape Impact 

40.Policy 18.CO seeks to ensure that development respects and does 
not have an adverse impact on the intrinsic character of the 
landscape. The site is visible from vehicles travelling in both 
directions along Charles Watts Way. The existing golf course is 
largely screened by trees on the northern boundary on this site and 
does not have a material impact on the landscape when viewed from 
Charles Watts Way. 

41.The existing site has a rural appearance with its last use being as 
paddock land associated with Thorneydown Farm. The golf course 
proposed would take the appearance of a managed leisure 
landscape and would therefore change the character of the site and 
create a more urban appearance. No structural landscaping is 
proposed in the submitted scheme and the layout proposed does not 
allow for a landscape scheme that would successfully mitigate the 
landscape harm from the more urban appearance. 

42.However, it is considered that the potential to secure an appropriate 
design and layout of a golf course extension on the site exists, but 
this may result in a reduction in space available for temporary 
parking of vehicles. 

43. It is recommended that the committee delegate this matter to the 
Lead Specialist, Housing and Development, to secure a revised 
layout and landscaping scheme to ensure that the proposed golf 
course would not have an adverse impact on the intrinsic character 
of the landscape and thereby ensure that the proposal accords with 
the requirements of Policy 18.CO. 

Trees
44.The site is predominantly tree free, however the proposal does at 

present result in the loss of trees to provide an extended road to the 
north-west boundary of the site. Further detail is being sought for the 
location of the path through the tree group G7 in the north-east of the 
site. 

53



45.At present there is conflict with the location of parking to the southern 
boundary of the site and the impact on retained trees on the 
boundary of the site. Given that these trees provide screening of the 
site the impact of compaction from vehicles on the ground within the 
root protection area is likely to be unacceptable and any revised 
scheme needs to provide sufficient buffers between parking to 
accommodate the tree root protection areas. The recommendation to 
permit is predicated on the basis that such revised plans are 
submitted.

Highways 

46.The proposal is supported by a Transport Assessment. Hampshire 
County Council (HCC) and Highways England have agreed that 
notwithstanding some technical points that would benefit from 
additional consideration, the basis under which the traffic impacts 
have been assessed is appropriate. 

47. It acknowledges that major events, where the golf course would be 
brought into use as a temporary car park, would have an impact on 
neighbouring roads. In mitigation, the site currently utilises a major 
event management plan, which has to be submitted to and agreed 
by the relevant highway authorities, which controls road closures, 
ticket issuing directions and entrance and exit arrangements/times. 

48.This is considered, in the main, to have worked well in the past and 
has, where issues have arisen, identified these which then feed back 
to the following year’s event management. It is considered that this 
method, notwithstanding some minor points of traffic assessment, is 
sufficient to mitigate the traffic impacts where these result in 
temporary pressure on the surrounding road network.  

Ecology and Hydrology

49.The application site itself does not form part of a site with a statutory 
designation, however there are a number of parts of the site that are 
of biodiversity value. 

50.Saved Policy 25.NC of the Eastleigh Local Plan requires that 
Development which will adversely affect a habitat or feature of 
importance for wild fauna and flora to demonstrate that 

- The benefits of the development outweigh the adverse impacts
- The adverse impacts are unavoidable

54



- Appropriate measures are taken which would mitigate or 
compensate for any adverse impact. 

51.The borough local plan pre-dates the 2019 NPPF which introduces a 
requirement in paragraph 170 d) to minimise impacts and secure 
biodiversity net-gain. There is concern about the extent of tree and 
shrubbery loss of to provide the footpath and the access road. 

52.As set out previously in the landscape section, the site needs an 
alteration to the layout in order to secure satisfactory relationship 
with existing natural features and to achieve the required biodiversity 
enhancements for the site, including the restoration of the acid 
grassland on site and secure buffers around the proposed 

53.There are some aspects of the scheme that are not sufficiently clear 
to assess the impacts including the details of the surface water 
swales as well as the restoration, culverting and the removal of 
existing culverts, which would re-open the existing water course that 
runs through the site.   

54.The Borough Ecologist is satisfied that a satisfactory layout can be 
provided it is therefore recommended that the application is 
delegated to the Lead Specialist, Housing and Development, to 
secure additional details in relation to ecology. 

55.The proposal is not considered to result in a likely significant impact 
on a European Protected site (SPA,SAC or Ramsar). HRA (Habitat 
Regulations Assessment) screening was required for this 
development as it falls inside the designated zone of impact. With 
adequate provision of buffers around sensitive water courses this 
would adequately ensure that water leaving the site would be 
acceptable such that it would not have a detrimental impact on the 
water quality or water flow entering the River Hamble, the Horton 
Heath Stream or Southampton Water. 

56.The application has been subject to Habitats Regulation and 
Appropriate Assessments that are awaiting the opinion of Natural 
England.  

Importation of fill – impact on Residential amenity /highways 

57.A number of issues have been raised in relation to noise and dust as 
well as lights shining through windows when leaving the site. 

55



58.Dust issues can be adequately addressed via a construction 
management plan. Construction traffic is due to enter and exit the 
site via Charles Watts Way and therefore would not result in 
significant noise impact on neighbouring residential properties. The 
traffic movements during major events may would likely result in 
some noise impact on neighbouring occupiers however given the 
limited number of dates that can be controlled by condition the 
impact is considered to be acceptable. The impact of lights from cars 
leaving the site is considered to be acceptable given the distance 
and intervening vegetation between the site exit and neighbouring 
properties.    

59. It is recommended that the same hours of work restrictions are 
placed on this development, as per the new hotel/stand/golf course 
development permitted under F/07/61830 to minimise noise and 
disturbance to residents, particularly those in Westgate Mews and 
possibly new Dog Kennel Farm properties who would be closest to 
this part of the site. Comments of the Head of Environmental Health 
are awaited.   

60.All fill material would be inert spoil, which is monitored by the 
Environment Agency.

Drainage / Flood risk

61.Policy 158.OS (viii) requires that any proposal must ensure that surface 
water drainage will not increase flood risks downstream and within the 
river corridor.

62.The Environment Agency Flood Zone map shows the application site 
lying within Flood Zone 1 which is considered as an area least likely to 
flood.  The NPPF requires that new development within zone 1 is 
designed so that it does not increase floor risk elsewhere within the 
catchment.  The Hydrological/Flood Risk Assessment concludes that 
the proposals will present a low risk of flooding downstream and the 
raised levels will also raise the water table.  HCC Flood and Water 
Management team, have confirmed that the surface water management 
proposals set out in the surface water drainage strategy meet existing 
standards and best practice.

Minerals Safeguarding

63.The county waste authority has requested details of how minerals will 
be used on this site and raises concerns that the development would 
sterilise the site for future extraction. The principle earthworks 
associated with the site are to raise the land rather than reduce it 
therefore it is not considered that sufficient material would be created 

56



by the site such that a plan for mineral extraction is proportionate in this 
case. 

64.Given that the site is a golf course it is considered that this would not 
remove the ability to extract minerals from the site in the future were the 
use to cease. It is therefore considered that the site would be in 
accordance with the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan.  

Conclusion 

65.The proposed sustainable development will complement and support 
other major development works for the rest of the Ageas site and in 
general terms complies with adopted Development Plan policy and the 
NPPF.  The proposal is acceptable in principle and subject to sufficient 
management of event day traffic, via an event management plan, would 
appropriately deal with the movement of traffic on the highway. The 
impact on the landscape and the ecological value are not currently 
resolved it is therefore recommended that the application is delegated 
to the Lead Specialist, Housing and Development to resolve the matters 
relating to landscape and ecology subject to further consultation with 
the Landscape Design Specialist and Ecology Specialist and subject to 
any further conditions or obligations that are recommended.

57



This page is intentionally left blank



59



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 HEWEB Youth Grants 2018/2019
	Appendix. 1 for HEWEB Youth Grants 18-19

	7 Financial Management
	9 Planning Application - WIldern Leisure Centre, Wildern School, Wildern Lane, Hedge End, SO30 4EJ
	10 Planning application - Thorneydown Farm, Moorhill Road, West End, SO30 3AY
	Thorneydown Farm location plan


